JEFF DICKERSON

APPELLANT

VS.

t

BONNIE LYNN DICKERSON

APPELLEE

NO.: 2008-CA-01100



APR 1 4 2009

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES L. PENLEY, JR. ATTORNEY AT LAW 914 GROVE STREET POST OFFICE BOX 430 VICKSBURG, MS 39181 TELEPHONE: 601-636-5955 FAX: 601-619-1529 BAR NO.:

JEFF DICKERSON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO.: 2008-CA-01100

APPELLEE

BONNIE LYNN DICKERSON

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the distribution of property and debt addressed by the Court was equitable.

2. Whether the award of lump sum alimony was appropriate.

3. Whether the Appellee's unfaithfulness constituted grounds for divorce on behalf of

Appellant.

4. Whether the award of attorney fees by the Court, was in accordance with the applicable law.

JEFF DICKERSON

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

NO.: 2008-CA-01100

VS.

BONNIE LYNN DICKERSON

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was initially filed by Appellee on May 22, 2006, on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment or in the alternative irreconcilable differences. Appellee was represented by Honorable Mark Prewitt at that time. Appellant was represented by Honorable Travis T. Vance, Jr. Both attorneys withdrew from the case and each party retained new counsel.

An amended complaint was filed by Appellee, and Appellant filed an answer and counter claim in response. Appellee set forth a new ground, uncondoned adultery pursuant to a January 3, 2007, order of the Court.

A temporary hearing was held with the Court awarding Appellee the majority of what she requested. After numerous pre trial hearings for contempt and modification the matter came to trial on December 5, 6, 7, 2007, and January 14, 2008, after which the Court entered its order granting Appellee a divorce on grounds of uncondoned adultery with a distribution of property and an award of attorney's fees.

Appellant and Appellee were previously married, divorced and then remarried within three (3) months of the divorce. The current marriage lasted less than three (3) years. Appellant ran a tire business which he owned and operated since 1993. Appellee had a real estate license but claimed she worked for the tire business.

Feeling aggrieved and claiming the Court misapplied the facts, evidence and law,

Appellant appeals to this Court seeking a reversal of the Court's Final Judgment requesting he be granted a divorce on the grounds he set forth, that the property be divided equitably and that the award of attorney's fees to Appellee be reversed or in alternative significantly reduced.

.

۰.

JEFF DICKERSON

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VS.

NO.: 2008-CA-01100

BONNIE LYNN DICKERSON

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Appellant had two (2) homes that he had purchased during the first and second marriages to Appellee. At the first divorce, Appellee would have received about Four Thousand and No/100 (\$4,000.00) Dollars from the sale. Once they reunited, Appellant put work into the house and the value increased. The selling price went up significantly. Appellant at all times paid the mortgage on both properties form funds derived from Dickerson Tire Company.

Both properties were sold with the remaining funds after payment of all liens being held pending the divorce. Appellant was responsible for the debt on both properties. Upon reuniting the parties had not sold the Ross Lane property but purchased another property on Sweetgum. Appellant obtained financing from a local bank and continued to pay for both houses.

The debt of the parties did not significantly change at the time of the second separation. Appellant was paying for two (2) houses and was later ordered to pay temporary support to Appellee. This with the continual drain of his business expenses and with Appellee making no contributions. The credit card debt grew as Appellee was an internet shopper, and she was not required to pay any of the credit card debt.

The Court, in its Final Judgment, awarded the lions share of the proceeds from those houses to Appellee, after a two and one-half (2 1/2) year marriage. This is not an equitable conclusion and was, and continues to be unfair to Appellant, as Appellant received no

proceeds from the sale of two (2) houses he owned.

2. Appellee failed to work, though she was in possession of a professional license, either during the marriage or after the separation. Further, the parties were only married two and one-half (2 1/2) years prior to separation.

Appellee was totally provided with a home, payment of all bills and a credit card by Larry Wade. She was in the real estate trade but just as she had with Appellant she allowed someone else to take care of her. She did nothing to support herself. Appellee had no estate to speak of, because she choose it to be that way. Appellee had the same financial security during the marriage as well as the period of separation, somebody else would provide for her needs. She never pursued a career as a real estate agent and has not done so to this day. It was her intention and desire not to work. Reward for idleness should not be granted. Lump sum alimony should not have been awarded.

3. Appellee admitted, after repeated hearings and questions, to living with a male during the period of separation. The male in question, Larry Wade, provided Appellee, a home, free of charge, paid bills for her and granted her use of a credit card. Obviously, an adulterous situation during the marriage of the parties. Appellee also admitted to bar hopping and bringing home a male. Appellee placed blamed on another female, that she brought into her house with the male subject.

Appellee, when initial divorce pleadings, did not even allege adultery, as a divorce ground. Only after hiring new counsel, did she file an amended complaint listing said ground. Testimony, elicited from Appellee, at pre-divorce hearings only concerned drinking and being mean as grounds for divorce.

5

4. The Court failed to set forth proper grounds for an award of attorney fees in this matter. The issues present in this case were not complicated and no special skill was required to present matters to the Court. There were an excessive number of exhibits entered into evidence on behalf of Appellee, a number of these as the basis for an award of attorney's fees.

、 I

The case was tried over several days, however, the issues had been presented at temporary hearings with testimony and facts hardly changing. A great deal of repetition was at play, seemingly designed to pad the attorney's bill. Appellant was deluged with temporary and contempt motions, with awards of fees at the time of hearing, again, padding the bill.

Appellant was stripped on any proceeds of the home sales as it all went to pay Appellee's attorney's fees plus another Two Thousand Thirteen and 41/100 (\$2,013.41) Dollars out of his pocket. Yet, Appellant is still saddled with marital debt of credit cards used jointly by the parties. There is no equity for Appellant in the award of attorney's fees.

JEFF DICKERSON

APPELLANT

VS.

BONNIE LYNN DICKERSON

APPELLEE

NO.: 2008-CA-01100

ARGUMENT

Whether the distribution of property and debt was equitable.

Appellant received not one dime from the sale of two (2) houses he owned during the marriages to Appellee (RE 55-61) He owes a balance on the awarded attorney's fees, (RE 58) years of hard work to build a business and a home should not be dashed by a divorce trial.

"The Chancery Court has authority, where equity demands, to order a fair division of property accumulated through the joint contributions and efforts of the parties." <u>Owen v. Owen</u> 928 So2d 156 (Miss 2006). In this case the majority of the property accumulated was due to Appellants efforts, especially from the financial side of the fence. Both parties agreed they lived out of Dickerson Tire Company, Appellant solely owned business since 1993. (T. 451) The distribution set forth by the Court granted most assets to Appellee with Appellant receiving all the debt. (RE 55-61) Appellee held realtors license but only received Eight Thousand and No/100 (\$8,000.00) Dollars in income during the year prior to the separation. (TR 106) She made no contribution to the marriage but did continue to gamble. Appellant was to work to build her real estate job to assist Appellant in paying bills. (T. 208) This was never done. Appellant received all the credit card debt run up during the marriage. (RE 59) Testimony revealed Appellee had access to the cards and was a prodigious internet purchaser. (T. 51, 213, 509, 511) She faced no consequences for her action to the detriment of Appellant.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly stated that "Chancellors division and distribution will be upheld if it is supported by substantial credible evidence." <u>Bowen v. Bowen</u> 982 So 2d 385, 394 (Miss 2008) In the case before the Court, Appellant is of the opinion the Chancellors division was not based on credible evidence but on the self serving testimony of Appellee. Appellee continually stated facts which were flatly disputed by Appellant in relation to assets of the business and marriage. She went as far as giving the Court an evaluation of Dickerson Tire Company with no authority to form the basis of her statements. (T. 85, 86, 151) She attributed large sums of money to Appellant with no proof or corroboration. (T. 88)

The assets of the union before this Court came down to personal property which was divided by agreement. (T. 310-339) and vehicles owned by the parties being a 2001 Lexus RS 300 and a 2004 Dodge Ram 1500. (T. 342) Possession of the Lexus was with Appellee by agreement of the parties with Appellant receiving the Dodge 1500. (T. 343) The biggest issue as to assets were the proceeds of the sale of two (2) houses owned by Appellant. (T. 346-348) The funds held in escrow from sales of the Ross Lane and Sweetgum properties constituted the vast percentage of the ultimate assets awarded by the Court. These funds were used to pay attorney's fees and alimony with Appellee being on the receiving end.

In a lengthy opinion the Court reviewed the factors set forth in <u>Ferguson v. Ferguson</u>, 639 So 2d 921 (Miss. 1994), concerning the equitable division of marital property. (RE 30-37) The factors show that the assets acquired by the parties hereto was due mainly to the efforts of Appellant. His income was the only resource of the marriage, since Appellee refused to work in what was at that time period, a very lucrative real estate market. It was easier to gamble and shop on the computer then sell houses.

For Appellant to receive no money from the sale of two (2) houses he purchased and worked on to increase their value is certainly not equitable. Likewise, to be granted the rights to pay all the attorney's fees as well as the mutually generated credit card debt is not in line with the case law set forth by this Court.

Whether the Award of Lump Sum Alimony was Appropriate

Armstrong v. Armstrong, 618 So 2d 1278(Miss. 1993), which lists factors as weighed by the Court tended to be in favor of not awarding alimony, or were neutral. (RE 38-43) Yet, the Court awarded lump sum alimony in the form of the payoff of the debt owed on the 2001 Lexus. (RE 59) Once again, Appellant received debt while Appellee, with no obligations, plus being supported in full by Mr. Wade, faced no consequences. When one chooses to follow the path of least resistance should that individual be rewarded?

Appellee never worked to make a decent income from her realtor's license. Only earning Eight Thousand and No/100 (\$8, 000.00) Dollars the year before the separation (T. 106) This, during a marriage that lasted less than three (3) years.

Even after receiving the vehicle she required, real estate was only a part time employment. (T. 225) She continued to allow Mr. Wade to provide for her needs. The Court appeared to applaud her efforts in its ruling. She was granted temporary assistance of One Thousand Five Hundred Sixty-eight and No/100 (\$1,568.00) Dollars per month. (T. 255) She received such assistance for a year during which time she moved in with Larry Wade. At the time of the final divorce she had no debts and was awarded proceeds from the house sales, lump sum alimony, a vehicle and attorney's fees. (RE 58-61) Mr. Wade continues to support her to this day as far as anyone knows. Due to her indiscretion this factor should not be held against Appellant.

"Alimony awards are within the discretion of the chancellor." <u>Armstrong</u> at 1280. Appellant contends that the chancellor abused her discretion in this case. Lump sum alimony unjustly enriched Appellee to the misfortune of Appellant. She was dependent on Appellant during the marriage and the Court continued that dependancy. (T. 476)

"If we find the chancellor's decision manifestly wrong, or that the Court applied an erroneous legal standard, we will not hesitate to reverse." <u>Armstrong</u> at 1280. The legal standards applied in the present case are sound. It is in the decision in light of the facts and evidence that Appellant takes issue with the chancellor. Appellee presented testimony that she needed the 2001 Lexus for a non-existent real estate business. (T. 114) After receiving exclusive use and possession of the vehicle, in January 2007, her business was no better than during the marriage. (T. 255) Appellee had a very marketable license but did nothing to rectify her situation. She expected the Court to assist her as Appellant before, and Larry Wade after the separation.

The award of alimony was excessive taken in light of the totality of the circumstances. There was no need to give Appellee a 2001 Lexus and a vintage Corvette, both paid for out of Dickerson Tire Company.

Whether Appellee Unfaithfulness Constituted Grounds for Divorve on Behalf of Appellant

Evidence was presented that Appellee was living and being supported by Larry Wade. (T-418-429) Appellee also picked up a man in Louisiana and brought him to the marital home. (T. 367-374) She even swam in the lake with this man, unclothed. Appellee lived with a man during the previous divorce of the first marriage of the parties hereto. (T 454)

It is clear that Appellee desires the company of a male who will support her and indulge

her as well as her needs, without requiring much in the way of contribution from her. "Marital misconduct is a viable factor entitled to be given weight by the chancellor when the misconduct places a burden on the stability and harmony of the marital and family relationship." <u>Rodriguiz v.</u> <u>Rodriguez</u>, 2009-MS-0121114 (Miss 2009), citing, <u>Carrow v. Carrow</u>, 741 So 2d 200, 203 (Miss. 1999). No burden was placed in the stability and harmony of the marriage before this Court. Appellee initially filed for divorce on grounds other than adultery, later awarded to include that ground. Whatever affairs, either party may have had during the marriage did not ultimately destroy the marriage. Appellee ended the relationship when she walked out the door, April 21, 2006. (T. 211)

Admissions by Appellee and her paramour, Larry Wade establish adultery on the part of Appellee. Both parties engaged in affairs during the separation, although neither was the cause of the separation.

Whether the Award of Attorney's Fees was in Accordance with the Applicable Law

In <u>McKee v. McKee</u>, 418 So 2d 764 (Miss. 1982) the Supreme Court stated the award of attorney's fees must be reasonable and supported by the evidence.

The fee depends on consideration of, in addition to the relative financial ability of the parties, the skill and standing of the attorney employed, the nature of the case and novelty and difficulty of the questions at issue, as well as the degree of responsibility involved in the management of the cause, the time and labor required, the usual and customary charge in the community and the preclusion of other employment by the attorney due to the acceptance of the case. <u>McKee</u> at 767.

Financial ability was at issue in this matter as Appellant was the only party employed during the

marriage as well as prior to the divorce. Appellee continually pleaded she could not work as a realtor due to one reason or another. (T. 225) During the pendancy of the divorce she was totally supported by Larry Wade and the temporary support of One Thousand Five Hundred Sixty-eight and No/100 (\$1,568.00) Dollars she received for at least one (1) year. (T. 254-255) Why would she want to work given those circumstances?

Appellant testified his business was in a slump, especially having to pay monthly support to an idle spouse. (T. 262-269)

Both attorneys were good representatives for their respective parties and presented the issues to the best of their abilities. They remain in good standing.

There was no novelty or difficulty in the issues that needed to be presented to the Court. The assets were limited and generally finite, being the funds generated from the sale of the two (2) houses of the parties and the debts. Appellee seemed intent on raising the issue that Dickerson Tire Company should be a piece of the pie and she went to great lengths in providing self serving evidence on this point. The chancellor, looking past the rhetoric, calculated the parties estates and divided then accordingly, with Appellee seeing the assets and Appellant receiving the debt. (RE 58-61)

Further, this case was tried several time on motions and contempts prior to actual trial. (T.13, 68, 260) The divorce case was repetitious of the temporary hearings with the same questions and witnesses. But for exhibits introduced, the chancellor heard this matter at least twice maybe more.

Management of the case appeared to be rather simple and straight forward. Again, the issues were not complex, as the most telling testimony as usual, came from the litigants. There

were no experts, that required special handling as all the witnesses were factual.

Time was the biggest matter due to motions and the repetitive nature of the case. As stated previously, the divorce hearing was just a continuation of the temporary motion. The litigants were questioned adversely, as well as in the normal presentation of the case. The case dragged after the second day, with repeated efforts on behalf of Appellee to obtain a piece of Dickerson Tire Company. The hourly rate was within the usual customary charge in the community. Appellant has no issues with the rate, just the time that was presented.

Since the case was broken up over a period of time, there was no loss of business for Appellee's attorney.

Regardless, of the motions filed which were not all heard by the Court, this matter was not complex and the continue rehashing of the same points only served to generate attorney's fees. The Court only stated Appellant's refusal to cooperate were the major issues. The <u>McKee</u> factors should have been considered by this Court in order to properly assess an award of attorney's fees.

CONCLUSION

Appellant, Jeff Dickerson, requests of this Court an equitable and fair distribution of the assets of the parties hereto a reversal of the lump sum alimony award granted to Appellee. Also, he requests this Court to reverse the award of attorney's fee which were no determined according to McKee v. McKee.