#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

**JEFF DICKERSON** 

**APPELLANT** 

v.

**CAUSE NO. 2006-206-GN** 

**BONNIE LYNN DICKERSON** 

**APPELLEE** 

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Jeff Dickerson, Appellant;
- 2. Bonnie Lynn Dickerson, Appellee;
- 3. James L. Penley, Jr., Attorney for Appellant;
- 4. Marcie T. Southerland, Attorney for Appellee.
- 5. Chancellor Vicki R. Barnes

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Jeff appeals from the judgment of divorce, division of marital property, award of alimony, and award of attorney's fees. A chancellor enjoys wide discretion in matters regarding divorce, property division, alimony and attorney's fees. Only if such discretion is abused will the Chancellor's decision be overturned on appeal.

There was overwhelming evidence that Jeff committed uncondoned adultery during his marriage to Lynn. Jeff and his cohort, Debbie Snyder, both admitted to the employees at Dickerson Tire that they were involved in an extra-marital affair. In addition, Jeff admitted to Lynn that he was involved in an extra-marital affair with Debbie.

Jeff challenges the Chancellor's distribution of property and debt, with the majority of debt being "awarded" to Jeff. The Chancellor correctly applied the Ferguson factors in her well-thought out memorandum of law and opinion.

Lynn was awarded lump sum alimony in the form of the 2001 Lexus. The Chancellor correctly applied the factors found in Tilley to determine that Lynn was indeed entitled to lump sum alimony.

The Chancellor correctly awarded Lynn her attorney's fees. Throughout the divorce, Jeff willfully and obstinately refused to comply with court orders. Jeff filed for restraining orders against Lynn. Those requests for restraining orders required court appearances by Lynn. Every action Jeff took was purposely calculated to enact a hardship upon Lynn, and it did.

This Court should affirm the judgment of divorce and the award of property, debt, and attorney's fees.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE CHANCELLOR CORRECTLY AWARDED A DIVORCE TO LYNN BASED UPON JEFF'S UNCONDONED ADULTERY.

"A chancellor is required to make specific findings of fact when a party alleges adultery as a ground for divorce." *Rodriguez v. Rodriguez*, 2 So.3d 720, 724 (Miss.Ct.App. 2009)(citations omitted.) Findings will only be set aside if those findings are "manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard" is applied. *Id.* Evidence or admissions may be used to prove

adultery. *Id.* In addition, because of the "inherently secretive nature of the acts involved," adultery can be proven through circumstantial evidence. *Id.* "In order to grant a divorce based uon circumstantial evidence there must be clear and convincing evidence of (1) 'an adulterous inclination' and (2) a 'reasonable opportunity to satisfy that inclination." *Id.* "Evidence of inclination and opportunity must 'be inconsistent with a reasonable theory of innocence." *Id.* "Adultery can also be proven by direct proof in the form of the defendant's own admissions." *Id.* 

An appellate court should be "reluctant to disturb the factual findings of a chancellor because of '[t]he credibility of the witnesses and the weight of their testimony, as well as the interpretation of evidence where it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation, are primarily for the chancellor as the trier of facts." *Rodriguez v. Rodriguez*, 2 So.3d 720, 724 (Miss.Ct.App. 2009)(citations omitted.) As long as a chancellor's factual findings are "supported by substantial credible evidence," those findings will not be disturbed on appeal. *Id*.

After a lengthy trial in this matter, the Chancellor found that Jeff had indeed committed adultery before the separation of the parties and that Lynn was entitled to a divorce on the grounds of adultery. The Chancellor stated:

Susan Brasfield, who was once employed at Dickerson Tire, offered testimony regarding Mr. Dickerson and Debbie Snyder's adulterous relationship. She stated that while Mrs. Dickerson was out of town in early 2005, Mr. Dickerson and Debbie Snyder had dinner together one night and that the next day both admitted to her, and other employees of Dickerson Tire, that the two were in fact having a sexual relationship. Ms. Brasfield stated that after Mr. Dickerson and Debbie's admission, they were openly intimate with one another at the shop. She stated that on one occasion she witnessed Debbie sitting in Mr. Dickerson's lap. Mrs. Dickerson testified that Mr. Dickerson confessed to having an illicit relationship with Ms. Snyder during the marriage. Mr. Dickerson denied that he ever had sexual relations with Ms. Snyder prior to their separation.

Testimony at trial established that Jeff was having an extramarital affair with a woman named Debbie Snyder. Susan Brasfield testified that sometime around February of 2005, she was at the

shop, Dickerson Tire, when she and the employees of Dickerson Tire heard Jeff and Debbie Snyder discussing "that they had went out, got drunk, slept with each other." *Tr. at 394*. In fact, Susan heard them discussing how "they were going to just run off and get married." *Tr. at 394*. Susan also testified that when Lynn was not at the shop, Debbie would sit in Jeff's lap and kiss him. *Tr. at 394*. Susan testified that she observed that kind of behavior for approximately three months prior to Jeff and Lynn's separation in April 2006. *Tr. at 419*. Jeff denied this.

In his brief to the Chancellor, Jeff admitted that he had a sexual relationship with another woman while married to Lynn. *C.P. at 143*. In addition, Jeff admitted to Lynn about one week before their separation that he was having a sexual relationship with Debbie Snyder. Jeff has also admitted that he is the sole provider for Debbie Snyder. *Tr. at 225*.

No credible evidence was ever presented to show that Lynn committed adultery before the separation of the parties. The Chancellor, in her order, stated:

During the trial, Debbie Snyder testified that in August 2004, she and Mrs. Dickerson went to a bar in Louisiana where Mrs. Dickerson convinced a man to go home with them. She further testified that while Mr. Dickerson was asleep in his bedroom, Mrs. Dickerson went swimming with the man and took her shirt off in front of him. Debbie also stated that she believed the two (Mrs. Dickerson and the unidentified man) had sex that night. This testimony was contradicted by Mrs. Dickerson, who testified that she in fact went to bed with Mr. Dickerson that night and that it was Debbie who slept with the unidentified man. This was the only testimony presented regarding Mrs. Dickerson's alleged adulterous behavior prior to the parties separation.

C.P. at 185.

Debbie Snyder, Jeff's live-in girlfriend, offered the testimony that Lynn had picked up an man at a bar sometime in 2004, had taken him home, and had sex with him. This testimony was contradicted by Lynn who testified that it was Debbie who had sexual intercourse with the man. Debbie finally admitted that she was the one talking with the man at the bar and that she herself went skinny dipping with the man. *Tr. at* 367-377.

Testimony clearly established that Jeff was having an extramarital affair with Debbie Snyder during his marriage to Lynn. The Chancellor did not err in awarding Lynn a divorce on the grounds of uncondoned adultery.

# II. THE DISTRIBUTION OF PROPERTY AND DEBT AWARDED BY THE CHANCELLOR WAS EQUITABLE.

There is a limited standard of review employed by an appellate court in reviewing the Chancellor's property division and distribution in a divorce. *Rodriguez*, 2 So.3d at 725. As long as the Chancellor's property division and distribution is supported by substantial credible evidence, it will not be disturbed on appeal even if the appellate court disagrees with the Chancellor's findings. *Id.* The Chancellor is required to make certain findings in regards to the *Ferguson* factors. *Id.* 

Jeff seems to be arguing that the Chancellor erred in distributing the debt of the parties: specifically the credit card debt. However, Jeff has failed to cite any law that would show the Chancellor erred in her distribution of the debt. Failure to cite case law to support an argument acts as a procedural bar. *Ortman v. Cain*, 811 So.2d 457, 462 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002). Without waiving the procedural bar, Lynn would reply as follows: As the Chancellor correctly found, all credit cards were in Jeff's name except for the Home Depot card which was in the name of Dickerson Tire. Lynn was never in possession of any of the cards. What little money Lynn spent on those cards was used to pay for purchases of clothing for Jeff and Lynn as well as to pay household bills, incurred to benefit the marriage. Debts incurred to benefit the marriage are marital debts. *Larue v. Larue*, 969 So.2d 99, 108 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007). The Chancellor was correct in assessing those credit card bills to Jeff. Jeff wants this Court to uphold the Chancellor's ruling that Dickerson Tire was not marital property. As such, the Home Depot credit card debt belongs to Dickerson Tire. Jeff wants

the business Dickerson Tire, but he doesn't want to pay the bills for Dickerson Tire. The Chancellor did not err in awarding all credit card debt to Jeff.

Jeff next argues that he should receive the proceeds of the sale of the home located at 950 Sweet Gum as well as the proceeds from the sale of Ross Lane. However, Jeff cites no case law to support that he should receive the proceeds from the sale of these homes. Failure to cite case law to support an argument acts as a procedural bar. *Ortman*, 811 So.2d at 462. Without waiving the procedural bar, Lynn would reply as follows: The Chancellor correctly found that both houses were marital property. Jeff and Lynn lived in both houses while married. While Jeff may have paid the note, Lynn contributed to the upkeep of the home. "In determining the contributions of each spouse, it is imperative to remember that a spouse working inside the home as a homemaker will be presumed to contribute equally as the wage-earning spouse." *Rodriguez*, 2 So.3d at 726. The Chancellor was correct in equitably dividing the proceeds from the sales of the marital homes.

#### III. THE AWARD OF LUMP SUM ALIMONY WAS APPROPRIATE.

The Chancellor's award or amount of alimony awarded should not be disturbed unless there exists manifest error. *Rodriguez*, 2 So.3d at 730. When considering the award of lump sum alimony, the Chancellor correctly applied the factors set forth in *Tilley v. Tilley*, 610 So.2d 348, 352 (Miss. 1992).

Jeff argues that the Chancellor erred in awarding lump sum alimony, yet he cites the Armstrong factors are to be followed. The factors as set forth in *Tilley* should be weighed to determine lump sum alimony. Jeff cites no case law to show that the Chancellor incorrectly applied the *Tilley* factors. Failure to cite case law to support an argument acts as a procedural bar. *Ortman* v. *Cain*, 811 So.2d 457, 462 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002). Without waiving the procedural bar, Lynn would reply as follows: The Chancellor found that the first and second *Tilley* factors were neutrally

weighed. As to the third Tilley factor, the Chancellor found that Lynn made a very meager income as compared to that of Jeff. This factor weighed in favor of lump sum alimony. The Chancellor found that absent lump sum alimony, Lynn would be in a vulnerable financial position, the fourth *Tilley* factor. She was being supported at the whim of Larry Wade, which weighed in favor of lump sum alimony. As a result of this analysis, the Chancellor determined that the award of \$10,096.02 in lump sum alimony to satisfy the debt on the Lexus would be an appropriate amount. The Chancellor made no error in awarding lump sum alimony to Lynn.

# IV. THE CHANCELLOR CORRECTLY AWARDED ATTORNEYS FEES TO APPELLEE LYNN DICKERSON.

The issue of attorneys fees in a divorce case is within the sound discretion of the Chancellor. *Baldwin v. Baldwin*, 788 So.2d 800, 807 (Miss.Ct.App. 2001). Absent an abuse of discretion, the Chancellor's award will be upheld. *Id.* "In order for this Court to say that the chancellor has abused his discretion, there must be insufficient evidence to support his conclusions." *Rodriguez*, 2 So.3d at 732. One who requests attorneys' fees must "prove an inability to pay." *Id.* The services rendered must be reasonably required and necessary. *Baldwin*, 788 So.2d at 807. Attorneys' fees depend upon the "... relative financial ability of the parties, the skill and standing of the attorney employed, the nature of the case and novelty and difficulty of the questions at issue, as well as the degree of responsibility involved in the management of the cause, the time and labor required, the usual and customary charge in the community, and the preclusion of other employment by the attorney due to the acceptance of the case." *Id.* 

Jeff's trial attorney, Mr. Richard Johnson, stipulated on the record that the attorney's fees were reasonable. *Tr. at 1053*. Further, Mr. Johnson stipulated that the items were performed by Lynn's attorney, Marcie Southerland. *Tr. at 1053*. Because no objection was made at the trial of this matter, Jeff is procedurally barred from appealing this issue. *Robinson v. Lanford*, 850 So.2d

91, 97 (Miss.Ct.App. 2001). Without waiving the procedural bar, Lynn would respond as follows.

Throughout the time the divorce was pending in this matter, Lynn was forced to constantly defend herself against all manner of attack waged by Jeff. As the Chancellor so aptly phrased it,

"Mr. Dickerson has been less than cooperative, he has twice had restraining orders issued against Mrs. Dickerson under questionable circumstances. There is property, last known to be in Mr. Dickerson's possession which remains unaccounted for. After the separation, Mr. Dickerson took the 2001 Lexus from a casino parking lot while Mrs. Dickerson was inside. She was left without a vehicle which she alleges caused a hindrance to her real estate career. When Mr. Dickerson returned the vehicle pursuant to a court order, the [t]ire[s] had been changed and allegedly there was damage to the upholstery."

C.P. at 220. At the time of each of these incidents, Lynn was forced to contact her attorney, and in some cases, required to file pleadings and motions for the return of her property and for enforcement of previously entered court orders, and in other cases, have legal representation in court hearings. The Chancellor further noted that "Mrs. Dickerson has accumulated substantial attorney's fees related to this divorce. This includes not only the amount usually incurred during a fault based divorce, but also additional fees associated with Mr. Dickerson's refusal to cooperate with the discovery process." C.P. at 225.

At every turn, Jeff has made this divorce intolerable. Jeff committed adultery. Jeff twice had restraining orders issued against Lynn for absolutely no reason. Jeff has willfully and obstinately refused to obey orders entered by the Chancellor in this matter. Jeff has been found guilty of contempt in this matter. In addition, Jeff and his "friend" Kekoa Hunter attempted to defraud the Chancery Court by concocting a promissory note from Jeff to Kekoa regarding \$8,800.00 that Jeff allegedly owed Kekoe. Lynn was forced to defend that motion in court. Lynn owes attorney's fees because she had to defend herself against Jeff's numerous attacks. The Chancellor did not err in making this award.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The bottom line is this matter is that the Chancellor has discretion in the matters of divorce, property distribution, alimony, and attorney's fees. Absent an abuse of discretion, the Chancellor's decisions must stand. The Chancellor issued a thorough and complete memorandum opinion and order outlining all relevant factors and conclusions. This matter should be affirmed.